RECEIVED

JAN 07 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge
Appellate Case No. 2020-001292

Theodore Harrison, Jr. #155651;

Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole, and Pardon Services,

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

Theodore Harrison, Jr.

SCDC# 155651

~~Perry C.I., O4A 211~~

430 Oaklawn Road

Pelzer, S.C. 29669

Matthew C. Buchanan,

Esquire

General Counsel, SCDPPPS

P.O. Box 207

Columbia, S.C. 29202

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND APPELLANT WAS RESENTENCED BY JUDGE HAYES TO THE SAME SENTENCE ANNOUNCED BY JUDGE RUSHING IN 1990. A SENTENCE OF LIFE WITH PAROLE ELIGIBILITY AFTER THE SERVICE OF THIRTY (30) YEARS?

2. DID THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERR IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE RESENTENCING HEARING WHICH APPELLANT RECEIVED BEFORE JUDGE HAYES PURSUANT TO AIKEN V. BYARS, DID NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENT OF GEER V. SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES, THAT BEFORE §24-21-640 CAN BE APPLIED TO A PRISONER DENYING HIM PAROLE ELIGIBILITY ON A PAROLE ELIGIBLE LIFE SENTENCE AS A SECOND OR SUBSEQUENT VIOLENT OFFENDER, FOR CRIMES COMMITTED AS A JUVENILE, THE PAROLE BOARD MUST FIRST TAKE THE PRISONER'S YOUTH AND ITS ATTENDANT CHARACTERISTICS AND CIRCUMSTANCES INTO ACCOUNT BEFORE DOING SO?

3. DOES THE LAW OF SOUTH CAROLINA REQUIRE THAT ANY DECISION TO APPLY §24-21-640 TO A PRISONER'S SENTENCE AS A SECOND OR SUBSEQUENT VIOLENT OFFENDER MUST BE MADE BY THE SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES; AND AS SUCH, DOES THIS SAME REQUIREMENT EXTENDS TO THE PAROLE BOARD TAKING A PRISONER WHO WAS SENTENCED TO LIFE WITH PAROLE FOR CRIMES COMMITTED AS A JUVENILE, YOUTH AND ITS ATTENDANT CHARACTERISTICS AND CIRCUMSTANCES INTO ACCOUNT BEFORE APPLYING §24-21-640 TO HIS PAROLE ELIGIBLE LIFE SENTENCE, TURNING IT INTO A SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is before the South Carolina Court of Appeals pursuant to the appeal of Theodore Harrison, Jr. of the Order of Administrative Law Judge Deborah Brooks Durden dated September 9, 2020 affirming the final decision of the Respondent.(R.pp.14-19)

In November 1990 after pleading guilty in exchange for the State to drop it's intent to seek the death penalty, the Honorable Judge Don S. Rushing, after having found an aggravating circumstance, sentenced Appellant to "life, without eligibility of parole until the service of thirty (30) years."(R.p.1)

In 1996, the Respondent notified Appellant that pursuant to §24-21-640 of the S.C. Code of Law, as a second or subsequent violent offender, he was ineligible for parole on his life sentence.(R.p.26-27)

In 2014, after the Court's decision in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Appellant was notified by lawyers that because he was listed in South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) records as serving life without parole for crimes committed when he was a juvenile, he was eligible to receive a resentencing hearing pursuant to the Court's decision in Aiken v. Byars.

After a two day hearing, Circuit Judge Mark Hayes issued an Order dated June 14, 2018, resentencing Appellant to the same sentences as announced by Judge Rushing in 1990, which was life with parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years.(R.p.13).

In November of 2018, after writing to the Respondent notifying them that in accord with the Court's holding in Miller v. Alabama 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2010); Aiken v Byars; and Montgomery v. Louisiana 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016) their decision to deny him parole eligibility pursuant to §24-21-640, rendered his life sentence with parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years, to a life without parole sentence for crimes which occurred when Appellant was sixteen (16) years old; and that in accord with the Order of Chief Administrative Law Judge Ralph King Anderson, III in the case Geer v. South Carolina Department of Probation,

Parole and Pardon Services, their decision violated Appellant's Eighth Amendment right to the U.S. Constitution and Article 1§15 of the South Carolina Constitution.(R.p.28-29)

In December of 2018 the Respondent notified Appellant that in accord with the decision of the Administrative Law Court in Geer, Appellant can no longer be considered a subsequent violent offender under §24-21-640, and that because of this change, Appellant is eligible for parole on his 1990 life sentence.(R.pp.30-31)

In December of 2019 Appellant was interviewed by the Parole Examiner for the pre-parole interview, at which he was told to expect a letter notifying him of the date on which he would be appearing before the Parole Board. While awaiting this date, in February 2020, Appellant instead received a letter from the Respondent stating that again they had changed Appellant's parole eligibility to ineligibility as a second or subsequent violent offender pursuant to §24-21-640. The Respondent stated this change was based on their learning of Judge Hayes' Order. (R.pp.32-33)

In February 2020 Appellant appealed this final decision of the Respondent to the Administrative Law Court. On September 9, 2020 Administrative Law Judge Durden issued an Order affirming the Respondent's final decision.(R.pp.14-19)

ARGUMENT

1. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT IN 1990 APPELLANT WAS SENTENCED BY HONORABLE JUDGE DON S. RUSHING TO A SENTENCE OF LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE; AND THAT THE PORTION OF JUDGE RUSHING'S SENTENCE WHICH MENTIONED PAROLE ELIGIBILITY WAS NOT PART OF APPELLANT'S SENTENCE AT ALL.

Appellant submits that in 1990 the S.C. Code of Law which laid out the sentence for one convicted of or pleads guilty to murder is §16-3-20)A). The statute in effect when Appellant committed the crimes in 1988 specifically stated that a person who was convicted of or pleads guilty to murder was required to be

sentenced to (1) death; (2) life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after twenty years imprisonment; or (3) life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after thirty years imprisonment if the state sought the death penalty and an aggravating circumstance was found but a recommendation of death was not made. State v. Matthews, 296 S.C. 379, 373 S.E.2d 587 (1988). Therefore, on November 12, 1990 Judge Rushing, after accepting Appellant's guilty plea in exchange for the state dropping its intent (recommendation) to seek the death penalty, sentenced Appellant to the only sentencing option available to him, life without eligibility of parole until the service of thirty (30) years. Judge Rushing simply stated what the statute itself stated in 1990, which also mentions parole eligibility. There is no ambiguity about this.

It was the Respondent in 1996 who turned Appellant's life with parole eligibility sentence after thirty (30) years into a life without parole sentence by applying S.C. Code §24-21-640 to the sentence which Judge Rushing imposed within statute. Had it not been for the Respondent's application of §24-21-640 to his life sentence, Appellant would have not even been eligible to receive a resentencing hearing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars. State v. Finley, Appellate Case No. 2016-002480 (July 17, 2019).

~~It was S.C. Code §16-3-20(A) in 1990 which stated Appellant's~~
parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years. The Administrative Law Judge is correct when she stated it is the Respondent and it's Parole Board responsibility to look to the statute to determine whether a defendant is eligible for parole separate and apart from the Court's authority to sentence a defendant, Major v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 384 S.C. 457, 682 S.E.2d 795 (2009), but then absolve the Respondent of this duty and responsibility in Appellant's case by erroneously concluding that Judge Rushing and Judge Hayes both made the decision that Appellant is not eligible for parole.

2. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT WAS RESENTENCED TO LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE BY CIRCUIT JUDGE MARK HAYES AFTER HIS 2018 RESENTENCING HEARING PURSUANT TO AIKEN V. BYARS.

Appellant submits that in 1990 Judge Rushing did not have the option of sentencing him to life without parole, and that this same holds true of Judge Hayes in 2018. For Judge Hayes to have resentenced Appellant to a sentence which was not available to Judge Rushing in 1990 or allowed under §16-3-20(A) in 1990, it would be an Ex Post Facto violation. State v. Matthews, supra., "the United States Supreme Court held as violative of the ex post facto prohibition any "law that changes the punishment, and inflicts a greater punishment, than the law annexed to the crime, when committed."" In 1990 S.C. Code §16-3-20(A) did not permit a sentence of life without parole to be imposed on Appellant, and for this reason Judge Hayes resentenced Appellant "to the same sentences as announced by Judge Rushing in 1990." Life with parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years.(R.P.13)

3. THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT'S AIKEN V. BYARS HEARING BEFORE JUDGE HAYES SATISFIED THE REQUIREMENT OF GEER V. SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND PARDON SERVICES, THAT BEFORE §24-21-640 CAN BE APPLIED TO A PRISONER DENYING HIM PAROLE ELIGIBILITY ON A PAROLE ELIGIBLE LIFE SENTENCE AS A SECOND OR SUBSEQUENT VIOLENT OFFENDER, FOR CRIMES COMMITTED WHEN HE WAS A JUVENILE, THE PAROLE BOARD MUST FIRST TAKE THE PRISONER'S YOUTH AND ITS ATTENDANT CHARACTERISTICS AND CIRCUMSTANCES INTO ACCOUNT BEFORE DOING SO.

Appellant submits that his hearing before Judge Hayes was to determine if Appellant would receive a lesser sentence or the same sentence for his 1990 convictions, and not to determine if the Respondent correctly applied §24-21-640 to Appellant's parole eligible life sentence, turning it into a life without

parole sentence for crimes committed as a juvenile. This was not the issue of and nor was it addressed at Appellant's resentencing hearing before Judge Hayes. If it is the responsibility and sole authority of the Respondent and its Parole Board to determine a prisoner's parole eligibility, as the Court correctly concluded, how then can Appellant's resentencing hearing before Judge Hayes satisfy the requirement of Geer that before the Respondent can apply §24-21-640 to a prisoner denying him parole eligibility on a parole eligible life sentence as a second or subsequent violent offender for crimes committed as a juvenile, the Parole Board must first take the prisoner's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances into account before doing so. State v. McKay, 300 S.C. 113, 386 S.E.2d 623 (1989) ("We conclude that §24-21-640 specifically provides for the Board to consider the complete record of a prisoner and delegates to the Board the responsibility of determining if and when a prisoner meets the prerequisites of parole eligibility." "...separate and independent from the court's authority to sentence an offender."). Major v. SCDPPPS, supra., ("In effectuating a sentencing court's order, the Department has the sole authority to look to the statutes to determine whether a defendant is eligible for parole separate and apart from the court's authority to sentence a defendant.").

Therefore, as the Courts precedent leads, it is the responsibility of the Respondent's Parole Board to look at the statute and consider Appellant's complete record, his youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances, to determine if he meets the prerequisites of parole eligibility under §24-21-640 for crimes which he committed as a juvenile, as Chief Judge Anderson intended in Geer. This determination was not an issue being addressed at Appellant's resentencing hearing before Judge Hayes and nor was it decided or ruled on by Judge Hayes. Judge Hayes addressed and decided one issue, whether to resentence Appellant to a lesser sentence or to the same sentence as announced by Judge Rushing on November 12, 1990. Unfortunately Judge Hayes chose the latter of the two, even after he concluded Appellant "has shown the possibility of rehabilitation", and

commended him on his efforts of rehabilitation.

As Appellant has shown, Judge Hayes resentenced him to the same sentence announced by Judge Rushing in 1990, because outside his option to impose a lesser sentence, the only other sentencing option which was available to Judge Hayes, was the same sentences which were announced by Judge Rushing in 1990. Any sentence imposed greater than those which §16-3-20(A) allowed in 1990, would be an Ex Post Facto violation. This placed Appellant in the same position of being sentenced to a life sentence with parole eligibility after the service of thirty (30) years, which has been turned into a life without parole sentence by the Respondent's application of §24-21-640 to him as a second or subsequent offender, for crimes committed as a juvenile. The same position which Geer was in. The fact that Appellant was given a resentencing hearing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars is immaterial when considering the fact that the issue of the Respondent's application of §24-21-640 to Appellant's life sentence, turning it into a life without parole sentence for crimes committed as a juvenile without first taking Appellant's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances into account before doing so, was not an issue addressed and/or ruled on at Appellant's resentencing hearing before Judge Hayes. As a sentencing Court, Judge Hayes could not make this determination. Major v. SCDPPPS, supra., ("Our law; however, is well-established that a sentencing judge does not have the authority to determine parole eligibility through sentencing.")

Under the S.C. Code of Law, the application of §24-21-640 is the Respondent's responsibility and not that of the sentencing court. An analysis of the plain language of the statute and its placement in the Code makes this clear. The application of §24-21-640 to an imposed sentence takes place after the sentence itself has been issued by the court. Furthermore, the statute is located in Title 24 of the Code "Corrections, Jails, Probation, Parole and Pardon", which means that any hearing which is to take place concerning the application of §24-21-640, must be conducted by the Respondent's Parole Board.

Judge Anderson in Geer focused on the Parole Board not taking Geer's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances

into account in its application of §24-21-640 to Geer's life sentence. Judge Anderson made no discussion that this was the responsibility of the sentencing court, or the resentencing court conducting a hearing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars. In his Order, n.6, Judge Anderson stated:

"...that statute cannot be applied in a way that fails to take Appellant's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances into account. The Parole Board in this case could not have taken Appellant's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances into account..."
(R.p.25)

Appellant realizes that Geer is an unpublished opinion, and respectfully begs the Court to take judicial notice of Judge Anderson's Order. The issue involved is the same.

The Respondent's Parole Board has not taken Appellant's youth and its attendant characteristics and circumstances into account before it applied §24-21-640 to his life sentence with parole eligibility after thirty (30) years, turning it into a life without parole sentence for crimes committed as a juvenile. Cooper v. South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008)(a "court's final judgment in a criminal case is the pronouncement of the sentence. The parole board, however, has the sole authority to determine parole eligibility separate and apart from the court's authority to sentence a defendant."). The Administrative Law Court has absolved the Respondent of this authority and responsibility by erroneously concluding that the sentencing Court of Judge Rushing and Judge Hayes have already made the determination that Appellant is ineligible for parole on the life sentence which was imposed pursuant to §16-3-20(A) of the S.C. Code of Law which was in effect when the crimes were committed in 1988.