STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from the Administrative Law Court **DEC 02 2020**
The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, Administrative Law Judge
Docket Number 20-ALJ-15-0004-AP **SC Court of Appeals**

Appellant Case No.: 2020-001292

THEODORE HARRISON, JR., #155651,.....APPELLANT

v.

S.C. DEPARTMENT OF PROBATION, PAROLE AND
PARDON SERVICES,.....RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Matthew C. Buchanan
General Counsel

**South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
P.O. Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 734-9220**

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Administrative Law Court err when it determined the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services properly denied the Appellant parole eligibility pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-21-640 when the circuit court performed an individualized sentencing hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth were fully explored, as required by *Miller v. Alabama* and *Aiken v. Byars*, and found that life in prison without the possibility of parole was appropriate?

2. Did the Administrative Law Court err when it ruled that the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services or the Parole Board did not need to conduct its own individualized hearing to explore the mitigating hallmark features of youth?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 12, 1988, Appellant, who was sixteen at the time, and his co-defendant Robert Moore (Moore) approached two people who were just finishing their grocery shopping at the Kroger on Decker Boulevard in Richland County. Moore and Appellant produced a shotgun, ordered the two in the car, and drove off with Moore driving and the Appellant in the back seat with the shotgun. The two victims managed to escape when Moore had to stop for gas.

Appellant and Moore were found in New Jersey driving the victim's car after a BOLO was issued. They were extradited back to South Carolina where they confessed to the armed robbery and kidnapping. Appellant appeared before the Honorable William Thomas Smith, Jr. and pled guilty to the armed robbery, receiving a sentence of twenty years.

In July, 1989, an informant at the Department of Corrections told investigators that Appellant and Moore knew several details about an unsolved double murder in Chester County, which made them suspects in the crime.

Two young people disappeared the night of February 8, 1988, after last being seen at a car wash just outside the city limits of Chester. Their cars were found early on February 9 at the interchange of I-77 and 277 in Columbia, wrecked and abandoned. The bodies, however, were not found until March 19 that same year. Both victims appeared to have been shot.

After investigators met with the Appellant and Moore, the two each gave statements about their participation. They both stated that they approached the two victims at the car wash, presented firearms they were carrying, and ordered the victims into one of the cars and had them drive away with Appellant and Moore in the backseat. They instructed them to drive to a wooded area where the victims were walked into a secluded area and shot. Both Appellant and Moore accused the other with pulling the trigger, but otherwise their stories were significantly the same. After killing

the victims, Appellant and Moore returned to the car wash and picked up the other victim's vehicle and drove around until they crashed the vehicles at the intersection where they were found.

On November 12, 1990, Appellant appeared before the Honorable Donald S. Rushing where he pled guilty to the murder, armed robbery, and kidnapping of the two Chester victims. Because of the prior conviction for armed robbery, Respondent Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP) determined Appellant to be a subsequent violent offender pursuant to S.C. Code § 24-21-640 and informed him he would not be considered for parole.

In 2012, the U.S. Supreme Court decided *Miller v. Alabama*,¹ which ruled that the Eighth Amendment prohibits a statutory scheme that mandates life without parole (LWOP) for juvenile homicide offenders. Subsequent to that ruling, the South Carolina Supreme Court issued *Aiken v. Byars*² in 2014, which applied the reasoning of *Miller* to all juvenile LWOP sentences in South Carolina.

Appellant filed a motion on July 11, 2016 for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken*. On July 16, 2016, Chief Justice Costa Pleicones issued an order assigning the Honorable J. Mark Hayes II with exclusive jurisdiction over Appellant's motion and directing him to have a hearing. On February 12 and 16, 2018, the resentencing hearing was held in Chester County.

On June 14, 2018, Judge Hayes issued a resentencing order finding that after performing the individualized review as required by *Miller* and *Aiken*, the court was resentencing him to the same sentences as announced in 1990 by Judge Rushing. Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal of Judge Hayes' decision, and his case was assigned to an appellate attorney from the Office of Indigent Defense. Judge Hayes' order was not sent to Respondent.

¹ 567 U.S. 460 (2012).

² 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014)

On December 4, 2018, in response to a letter from Appellant asking about the unpublished case *Geer v. SCDPPPS*, but failing to mention the June 14, 2018 order from Judge Hayes, an attorney from PPP confirmed that, in light of the reasoning behind the opinion in *Geer*, the Appellant would be considered parole eligible, though not until after thirty years because of the aggravating factors in the offense.

On April 9, 2019, Appellant moved to withdraw his appeal of Judge Hayes' sentencing order, which was granted by the Court of Appeals on April 11, 2019.

In January, 2020, during Appellant's routine pre-parole investigation, contact was made with the victims and the Sixth Circuit Solicitor's Office. The PPP investigators received a copy of Judge Hayes' order for the first time.

On February 3, 2020, an attorney for Respondent sent the Appellant a letter explaining that per Judge Hayes' order, the original sentence would be in place, and its earlier determination that Appellant was eligible for parole would not have happened if it had been aware of Judge Hayes' ruling.

Upon receiving the letter, Appellant filed a notice of appeal before the Administrative Law Court (ALC). Within his appeal Appellant alleged that the Department failed to take his youth and its attendant characteristics into account when it applied § 24-21-640 to his sentence, thus violating his Eighth Amendment rights. The Honorable Deborah Brooks Durden, ALC judge, affirmed the decision of the Respondent on September 9, 2020.

Appellant filed his notice of appeal with this Court on September 16, 2020. In his brief, Appellant contends that the ALC erred in its determination that Judge Hayes' order met the requirements of *Aiken v. Byars*. This brief of Respondent follows.

ARGUMENTS

- 1. The Appellant received an individualized sentencing hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth were fully explored; therefore, the sentencing court's imposition of a life without parole sentence as a function of applicable statutes was appropriate, and the Department properly denied parole eligibility pursuant to that sentence.**

In South Carolina, an inmate may not receive parole for a violent offense if that inmate has been convicted of a prior separate violent offense. S.C. Code § 24-21-640 (Supp. 1986).

The Appellant is appealing the Department's determination that he is not eligible for parole due to the plain language of § 24-21-640, because he was a juvenile when he committed both violent offenses. He points to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014) and relies heavily on the reasoning in the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *Geer v. South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, Op. No. 2018-UP-216 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 23, 2018), *certiorari denied* November 9, 2018.³

In *Aiken*, the South Carolina Supreme Court applied the U.S. Supreme Court's ruling in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460 (2012) to all juvenile offenders sentenced in South Carolina to life without parole, regardless of whether the no parole sentence was mandatory. No juvenile offender, the Court ruled, could be sentenced to life without parole unless a sentencing court considered various factors in an individualized hearing. Those factors are "(1) the chronological age of the offender and the hallmark features of youth, including "immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risk and consequence"; (2) the "family and home environment" that surrounded the offender; (3) the circumstances of the homicide offense, including the extent of the offender's participation in the conduct and how familial and peer pressures may have affected him;

³ *Geer* is unpublished and thus has no precedential value except as provided by Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR. However, Appellant relies almost exclusively on the reasoning within the opinion, and Respondent admittedly originally relied upon that same reasoning until it learned of Judge Hayes' order. For this reason, this argument explores that reasoning without relying upon the opinion as authoritative.

(4) the “incompetencies associated with youth – for example [the offender’s] inability to deal with police officers or prosecutors (including on a plea agreement) or [the offender’s] incapacity to assist his own attorneys”; and (5) the “possibility of rehabilitation.” *Id.* at 544, 577 (quoting *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 477-478).

The ruling of *Aiken* was first applied to juvenile inmates sentenced to LWOP sentences by a circuit judge at the time of sentencing. *Geer*, however, involved a juvenile who was initially sentenced to life *with* parole. The Department later determined inmate Nicholas Geer was serving a sentence for a second or subsequent violent offense. Because Geer committed a prior violent offenses for which he was convicted separately, the Department determined him to be ineligible for parole under § 24-21-640.

The Administrative Law Court reversed the Department’s decision pursuant to *Aiken*. Because *Aiken* did not address the unusual situation when S.C. Code § 24-21-640 makes a juvenile ineligible for parole, the Department appealed the ALC’s decision to the Court of Appeals. In the unpublished opinion, the appellate court decided that there was no evidence that Geer’s youth was taken into consideration when his parole eligibility was denied. The Supreme Court later denied certiorari when the Department appealed.

Geer is not published and therefore has no precedential value. In that it may be considered persuasive, however, *Geer* should be considered distinguishable from Appellant’s case because the Appellant in this case has had an individualized hearing in which the factors set forth in *Aiken* were fully explored.

The Court of Appeals in *Geer* found no evidence of an *Aiken v. Byars* hearing. Here, however, Appellant has had an extensive hearing before Judge Hayes in which he had the opportunity to present experts and witnesses to show those *Aiken* factors such as his family and

home environment, the circumstances of the offense, and his possibility of rehabilitation. After the hearing, Judge Hayes resentenced Appellant to the same sentence as announced by Judge Rushing in 1990, which, by operation of Section 24-21-640, is a sentence of life without parole. Therefore, this Court should affirm the decision of the ALC.

2. The Administrative Law Court did not err when it concluded that the hearing conducted by Judge Hayes was sufficient to meet the requirement of an “individualized hearing.”⁴

Appellant argues the purpose for the hearing before Judge Hayes was to “determine if Appellant would receive a lesser sentence or the same sentence for his 1990 convictions.” This assertion mischaracterizes the *Aiken* hearing conducted by Judge Hayes.

At the time the Appellant’s case was assigned to Judge Hayes pursuant to *Aiken*, the Appellant had been determined to be ineligible for parole. Consequently, in order to meet the Constitutional requirements Judge Hayes conducted an exhaustive examination into the offense and the mitigating factors – including the “hallmark features of youth.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577.

Admittedly, Judge Hayes did not fully describe the law in place regarding the Appellant’s sentence. In his order, Judge Hayes stated, “Because at the time of his sentencing, he was already serving a felony sentence arising from the carjacking and abduction by gunpoint of two people in Richland County, his life sentences were deemed to be without the possibility of parole (LWOP).” Tr. p. *.

In his conclusion, Judge Hayes wrote, “This Court realizes given the consecutive nature of these sentences, this Defendant will serve the remainder of his life in prison.” Tr. p. *.

⁴ Respondent will address issue 2 and 3 of the Appellant’s argument in this section.

Clearly, Judge Hayes understood, when he conducted the *Aiken* hearing, that imposing the same sentence as Judge Rushing would mean Appellant was not eligible for parole. Simply because Judge Hayes referred to Appellant's second sentence as "consecutive" rather than a "subsequent violent offense" does not negate his thorough and exhaustive analysis, and certainly does not preclude the operation of § 24-21-640 of the Code.⁵

Indeed, it was always because of § 24-21-640 that the Appellant was ineligible for parole. Had he not had prior convictions for violent offenses, he would be parole eligible on his life sentence, and therefore not one of the inmates to whom *Aiken* applies. See *State v. Finley*, 427 S.C. 419, 831 S.E.2d 158 (Ct. App. 2019) (finding that an inmate who is parole eligible is not one of the class of inmates contemplated by *Aiken*).

Appellant asserts that the hearing before Judge Hayes simply reinstated Judge Rushing's original sentence. Appellant further argues that *Geer* requires an additional *Aiken* hearing conducted by either the Department or the Parole Board before the Department can determine an inmate to be ineligible for parole pursuant to § 24-21-640. This is incorrect. The application of § 24-21-640 is not discretionary. The Court in *Aiken* held that "the sentencing authority" must consider the five factors enumerated in *Miller. Aiken* at 544, 577.

Respondent's authority is to apply the statutes to the sentences issued by the courts, but Respondent is not a sentencing authority. "In effectuating a sentencing court's order, the Department has the sole authority to look to the statutes to determine whether a defendant is eligible for parole separate and apart from the court's authority to sentence a defendant." *Major v. South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 384 S.C. 457, 466, 682

⁵ The Appellant makes an argument that Judge Hayes, by reinstating Judge Rushing's sentence and determining him to be serving a life without parole sentence, violated the Ex Post Facto clause. This is incorrect. The subsequent violent offense clause in § 24-21-640 was enacted in 1986, two years before the Appellant committed his offenses.

S.E.2d 795, 800 (2009) (citations omitted). Thus, because the Respondent's role is "separate and apart" from the sentencing authority of the court, the Respondent is not required to conduct an *Aiken* analysis of an inmate who committed his crimes as a juvenile. That, per *Aiken*, remains solely the province of the sentencing authority. Here, Judge Hayes acted within that scope and exercised his discretion to impose a life without parole sentence as a function of § 24-21-640. Therefore, this Court should affirm the ruling of the ALC.

CONCLUSION

Admittedly, the Appellant's parole eligibility appears to have changed multiple times during his incarceration. The Respondent had initially determined him to be ineligible for parole, which placed him in the category contemplated by *Aiken v. Byars*. The fact that his case was similar to the underlying facts of *Geer* led the Respondent to change him to parole eligibility status – though unbeknownst to the Respondent the Appellant had received a resentencing hearing as required by *Aiken*. After conducting an exhaustive evidentiary hearing and applying the *Miller* factors, Judge Hayes found life without parole in the Appellant's case would be constitutional and appropriate, and upheld/re-imposed the original sentence of Judge Rushing. Consequently, the Respondent reinstated the Appellant's original status as ineligible for parole pursuant to § 24-21-640. The Administrative Law Court properly affirmed the Department's decision, and this Court should uphold its finding.